# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC04-2379

#### DOLAN DARLING, A/K/A SEAN SMITH

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MARK S. GRUBER
Florida Bar No. 0330541
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813-740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Appellant, DOLAN DARLING, a/k/a Sean Smith, appeals from the denial

of his Rule 3.851 motion for postconviction relief from his conviction and sentence of death for the murder and armed sexual battery of Grace Mlynarczyk ("Grace") on October 29, 1996. This Court's affirmance on direct appeal of the judgment and sentence (with three Justices concurring in result only) is reported at *Darling v. State*, 808 So.2d 145 (Fla. 2002), *cert. den. Darling v. Florida*, 537 U.S. 848, 123 S.Ct. 190, 154 L.Ed.2d 78 (U.S. Fla. Oct 7, 2002). The presiding judge at trial and the postconviction proceedings was the Honorable John H. Adams. Sr. The prosecutor at trial was Assistant State Attorney Jeffrey Ashton. Francis Iennaco and Robert LeBlanc were appointed to represent Darling on September 16, 1997, after the public defender withdrew. R-Vol. IV 431. On direct appeal, he was represented by Assistant Public Defender Christopher S. Quarles.

#### Trial

The guilt/innocence phase of the trial took place from November 30 through December 3, 1998. According to the States case, Grace was a thirty three year old Polish female living illegally in the United States. The murder was reported to the police by the victim's boyfriend, Zdzislaw Raminski ("Jesse"). He said that he became concerned when some calls to her apartment had gone unanswered that afternoon. TT Vol. 2, 346. He let himself in with his own key, and found the victim on her back on the floor of her bedroom, naked from the waist down, with her face near the bed and her legs inside the closet. TT Vol. 2, 336. Officers responding to the scene

secured items of evidence found in the bathroom, which included a lotion bottle, a pair of panties, and a pink throw pillow. TT Vol.3, 397-401, 407. The pillow had a blackened area and a gunshot hole through the sides. There was blood spatter on the closet door, and blood in the closet area. There were no signs of forced entry or ransacking. The medical examiner testified that the fatal wound was a pillow-silenced close range gunshot to the back of the victim's head. He stated that "[c]onsciousness would probably not be more than a few seconds@. TT Vol. 3, 463. Death was instantaneous. TT Vol. 3, 479. The doctor reported vaginal and rectal injuries consistent with sexual battery. Vaginal swabs contained traces of DNA that was consistent with that of the defendant.

Darling's apartment was located about 50 feet from Grace's apartment and he was interviewed briefly during a neighborhood canvass. About a week later, on November 7, 1996, Darling was arrested for the carjacking and non-fatal shooting of a taxi cab driver earlier in the day. His fingerprints were compared to a thumbprint lifted from the lotion bottle seized in this case and found to match.

Darlings attorney in the carjacking case did not know about the murder investigation. PC-R Vol. V 788. The indictment in this case was not presented until June 12, 1997. R Vol. V 405-07. Darling was not arrested on the indictment until August 29, 1997. In the meantime, the carjacking case had been resolved with a negotiated plea and sentence on April 3, 1997. Shortly thereafter, Darling filed a pro

se motion for postconviction relief in the carjacking case alleging ineffective assistance of counsel and requesting appointed counsel. The court denied his request for appointment of counsel but conducted an evidentiary hearing on some of Darlings ineffective assistance claims on October 8, 1997. The court concluded that Darlings motion for psotconviction relief was really a motion to mitigate sentence, and denied it. Darling subsequently filed an appeal to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, which was eventually dismissed for lack of prosecution. The testimony of the taxi cab driver and the conviction in that case was used to support the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance in this case.

During voir dire in this case, defense counsel moved that juror Morgan Wilson be excused for cause because his brother had been murdered. TT Vol. 2, 259-260. Counsel then said he confused Wilson with another juror, and withdrew his cause challenge. *Id.* Wilson had said that the murder of his brother might make him tend to favor one side over another.

David Baer, a Crime Laboratory Analyst with FDLE, testified that the DNA in the semen sample from the victim matched the DNA from Darling's blood sample.

Defense counsel objected to Mr. Baers qualifications to offer an opinion in the field of statistical analysis, but did not otherwise challenge the laboratory procedures or results. The prosecution relied entirely on forensic evidence to identify Darling as the perpetrator. Darling did not testify or present any other evidence. The jury found

Darling guilty of capital murder and armed sexual battery; a third charge, armed robbery, was dismissed with the agreement of the State.

The penalty phase was conducted on December 14 and 15, 1998. The State introduced Darling's conviction and sentence in the taxicab case without objection. The taxicab driver testified that Darling had robbed him at gunpoint. The State also introduced brief victim impact testimony from a friend of Grace.

The defense presented the testimony of four witnesses: **Deshane Claer**, the mother of Defendant=s daughter; **Vereneki Butler**, the Defendant=s sister; **Eleanor Bessie Smith**, the Defendant=s mother; and **Dr. Michael Herkov**, a clinical psychologist.

Ms. Claer said that she and the Defendant had a Adating relationship . . . There was a period of time that we had no contact with each other. R Vol. II, 69-70.

That when she found out she was pregnant. The Defendant mother gave her support for prenatal care.

Ms. Butler, the Defendants sister, described Carlton Darling, their father, as verbally abusive to her and physically abusive to her mother and brother. She witnessed physical fights. R Vol. II, 76. She said that the father drank excessively. She has an unknown number of half **B** brothers and sisters because her father Acarried on with other women, a situation she described as extremely embarrassing. R Vol. II,

78. She went away to school at age 16.

She was present when the father beat Darling with a pipe. She said Ahe just went over him with a PVC pipe . . . the bruising was pretty bad . . . I nursed him and then . . . put alcohol or Vaseline, or whatever to sooth it.@ R Vol. II, 84. She recalled an occasion when the defendant Agot . . . beat so bad . . . it must have been with a metal coat hanger.@R Vol. II, 92-93.

Her home environment affects her to this day. "Today I am battling alcoholism . . . at times I'm also plagued by depression and the doctor placed me on antidepressant drugs . . . @ She said that she tends to be a bit rough on her own son. "I've taken courses in psychology [so] I can stop myself from . . . abusing him when it does happen." R Vol. II , 98-99.

On cross examination, she agreed that the father Ain all other respects is considered a good hard-working citizen and a success@. *Id.* II, 86.

The Defendants mother, Eleanor Smith, said that the father Awas very abusive, verbally, physically and every which way. It was like a terror living there. R Vol. II,102. She explained that the Defendant was present during fights between her and Carlton Aon many occasions, on many occasions. The Defendant tried to defend her. AMany occasions he got bruises from trying to defend me because his dad is a very big, thick, heavy man. R Vol. II, 104.

That concluded the testimony from the family members. The Defendants

father did not testify at the sentencing phase hearing. Dr. Herkov testified that he had conducted a clinical interview and administered psychological testing. Dr. Herkov reviewed Aat least some of the discovery provided by the State attorneys, i.e. police reports, lab reports, consultation with investigators. He spoke with the prosecutor several times, and spoke with family members: mother Eleanor Smith, girlfriend Deshawn Claer, and half-sister Paula Haven. He reviewed some grade school reports. He read the statements of: father, Carlton Darling; Verneki Butler; Harlan Dean, headmaster at one of the schools that the defendant had attended; and Debra Rolle, a probation officer. R Vol. II, 119-21. Generally, Dr. Herkov agreed with the prosecutor that he could not demonstrate a cause and effect relationship between the childhood abuse and subsequent violence. R Vol. II, 165.

Dr. Herkov said: AThere was the history of sexual abuse. R Vol. II, 136.

That is the only reference to the subject during the penalty phase.

In closing argument the State emphasized the subjectivity of the process: With regard to the abuse, the prosecutor said that sometimes the Defendant Aprobably deserved it . . .[I]t defies common sense to say this man became a rapist and murderer because his father picked on him the way he did.@ R Vol. III, 270-71. Defense counsel urged that the factors described above be considered in mitigation and asked for mercy and compassion. His argument occupies 17 pages of the transcript. *Id*. 274-91.

The jury recommended death by a vote of 11-1. The defendant was sentenced to death at a combined Spencer/Sentencing hearing on December 18, 1998. The Spencer memorandum submitted by the defense did not contain any new information, R Vol. IX, 1158-65, and none was offered at the hearing. R Vol. IV, 318-42. The sentencing court found two aggravating circumstances: (1) the defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person (carjacking with a firearm, robbery, and aggravated battery), and (2) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of the crime of armed sexual battery. The court found the statutory age mitigator, but assigned it modest weight. R Vol. VIII, 1122. The court also found several nonstatutory mitigating factors, but assigned them slight or little weight. R Vol. VIII, 1121-27.

#### **Direct Appeal**

Darling raised the following issues on direct appeal: that the trial court reversibly erred in (1) denying his motion for judgment of acquittal predicated on insufficiency of the evidence; (2) admitting DNA evidence; (3) not allowing defense counsel to comment on the State's failure to exclude other suspects; (4) limiting Darling's voir dire examination during jury selection; (5) denying Darling's requested instruction regarding circumstantial evidence; (6) precluding defense counsel's rebuttal closing argument where the State had waived its closing argument; (7) refusing to allow Darling to argue residual doubt as a mitigator; and (8) denying Darling's requested

special penalty phase jury instructions. Additionally, Darling asserted that (9) the absence of a complete record on appeal deprived him of adequate appellate review; (10) his death sentence is disproportionate; and (11) his death sentence violates the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, 596 U.N.T.S. 261 (Dec. 24, 1969).

Darling v. State, 808 So.2d 145 (Fla. 2002) at 155 n.10. Relief was denied on the merits on all claims. Darling's petition for writ of certiorari filed in the United States Supreme Court was denied on October 7, 2002. Darling v. Florida, 537 U.S. 848 (2002).

#### **Postconviction**

#### **Initial Pleadings and Summary Dispositions**

Darling filed a timely Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851 on September 24, 2003. PC-R Vol. VII, 1256-1370. The State filed an Answer which incorporated a motion to strike Ashell claims@ on October 24, 2003. PC-R Vol. VII, 1371 - Vol. VIII, 1474. The trial court conducted a case management conference on January 30, 2004 (PC-R Supp. Vol. I), and granted the State-s motion to strike Claims XI, XII, XIV through XXXIV, and XXVI. Order, PC-R Vol. VIII, 1563-64. The court eventually merged Claim XV with Claim IV, on which the court afforded an evidentiary hearing. The court summarily denied relief on Claims II (in part), V

through IX, and XXXV in its order of April 27, 2004. PC-R Vol. VIII, 1534-44. The court subsequently entered an order on April 29, 2004 clarifying its ruling. PC-R Vol. VIII, 1563-64.

The portion of Claim II which was disposed of summarily alleged that the court committed error by not excusing a biased juror sua sponte. The court cited Griffin v. State, 866 So.2d 1 (Fla. 2003) in denying the claim on the merits, and also found that it was procedurally barred. PC-R Vol. VIII, 1534-44 and 1535-36. Claim V, that the jury was misled by comments which diluted its sense of responsibility, was deemed procedurally barred as being a direct appeal issue. *Id.* 1536-37. Claim VI alleged improper prosecutorial comment and ineffective assistance for failure to object. This Claim was denied on the merits. *Id.* Claim VII alleged that improper instructions and prosecutorial comment, and counsels failure to challenge them, limited the mitigation that could be considered by the jury in support of a life sentence. The court summarily denied this claim as being a direct appeal issue and therefore procedurally barred. Claim VIII challenged prosecutorial argument to the effect that the law required a death recommendation under certain circumstances. The court found that the substance of this claim was a procedurally barred direct appeal issue. As to the component of this claim which alleged ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object, the court summarily denied it on the merits on prejudice grounds only. *Id*. 1540. Claim IX, which asserted a claim under Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985), was deemed procedurally barred as a direct appeal issue and also found to lack sufficient allegations. Claim XXXV, based on *Ring v. Arizona*, was denied on the merits based on, *inter alia, Marquard v. Moore*, 850 So.2d 417 (2002). The court further found that the claim lacked merit because of Darlings convictions in the taxicab case and his contemporaneous convictions in this case. *Id.* 1542-43. During the evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel proffered the testimony of Christopher Smith, Darlings attorney on the taxi cab case, in support of a claim of ineffectiveness for failure to attack the prior violent felony aggravator. The court permitted the testimonial proffer, but declined to consider the testimony ruling that the claim had not been pled with sufficient particularity.

#### **Postconviction Evidentiary Hearing**

On April 26-29, 2004, and May 3 and 7, 2004 the court conducted an evidentiary hearing on Claims I (public records disclosure), the ineffective assistance component of Claim II (jury selection), Claim III (failure to challenge the fingerprint evidence), Claims IV and XV (penalty phase ineffectiveness), Claims X and XXXVIII (cumulative error), and Claim XXXVII (failure to challenge the DNA evidence). PC-R Vol. VIII, 1543. In addition, the court agreed to consider evidence of all instances of ineffectiveness in connection with the prejudice prong of any instance of ineffective assistance of counsel. Ultimately, the court denied relief on all claims in its Order of October 29, 2004. PC-R Vol. VII, 1786.

#### **DNA/Discovery Violations**

In Claim XXXVII Darling alleged ineffective assistance due to counsels failure to challenge the Florida Department of Law Enforcement ("FDLE") DNA laboratory quality assurance standards. Janine Arvizu testified on Darlings behalf. (PC-R Vol. IV 703-86; Vol. VI 1142 **B** Vol. VII **B** 1205). Ms. Arvizu was qualified as an expert in scientific laboratory quality assurance under F.S.A 90.702. PC-R Vol. IV, 714. Ms. Arvizu has been trained in the assessment of laboratory quality systems and has obtained certification as a quality assurance auditor. She has established and managed an analytical laboratory, and has been involved in a number of interagency quality assurance initiatives between the Department of Energy, the Department of Defense and the Environmental Protection Agency. In her current position as a consultant, she has been conducting data audits, data quality assessments, and laboratory audits for various organizations. She managed the United States Navy's National Laboratory Audit Program for the assessment of both commercial and government laboratories. She would have been available to testify as an expert at the time this case went to trial. PC-R Vol. VI, 1171, 1172.

Claim I of the motion for postconviction relief alleged that FDLE failed to adequately disclose public records, including *inter alia* the FDLE DNA laboratory Quality Assurance manual, Standard Operating Procedure manual (SOP), curricula concerning the evidence collection personnel and the contamination control practiced

in the laboratory, and the results of contamination control surveys relevant to DNA testing. PC-R Vol. VII, 1791. Prior to the evidentiary hearing, the court had granted motions to compel production of these and other documents relating to the DNA testing. *Id*.

In the middle of the evidentiary hearing, the court found that a discovery violation had occurred. PC-R Vol. V, 951. The court discussed the matter with counsel, Ms. Arvizu and the FDLE analyst regarding the appropriate remedy. PC-R Vol V, 951-58. Although Ms. Arvizu said she would need a Amatter of weeks@to review and prepare the new material, the court directed that she, accompanied by one of Darlings two attorneys and the FDLE analyst, go to the FDLE lab and conduct an audit on the spot, while the court continued with the evidentiary hearing. AAnd if you have this afternoon and if we resume at noon tomorrow, that would give you this afternoon and tomorrow morning. I think you should be able to make progress and at least report back.@ Id. While on site, Ms. Arvizu interviewed analyst Baer, and requested further documentation. PC-R Vol. VI, 1149. Ms. Arvizu-s resumed testimony was based on her preliminary review of the new material, but she said that she needed time for further review and assessment. She had received only about two thirds of the requested materials. PC-R Vol. VI, 1145. After additional information was provided to her via the internet, PC-R Vol. I 84, her report, dated May 15, was proffered on May 21, 2004. PC-R Vol. VIII 1580-85 (supplemental report); PC-R

Vol. VII 1826 (order denying relief).

In the May 15 report, Ms. Arvizu said that Mr. Baer had printed the Quality and SOP manuals off of his PC and represented that they were the manuals in effect in 1997, when the testing was done. However, that the quality manual referred to the use of radioisotopes, whereas Mr. Baer indicated that the lab had switched to non-radiological methods in 1996. This indicated that the manual may not have been in effect at the time of the work done in this case, which was around May of 1997. Moreover the laboratory was unable to provide a complete quality manual for the period from 1996-1997. As a result, Ms. Arvizu was unable to fully review the laboratory-s policies and operating requirements with regard to evidence management, contamination control, record management, and personnel training. She concluded that the laboratory-s inability to produce copies of quality system documentation then in effect was A a clear indication that the laboratory-s document control system was not operating effectively during the period in question.

The laboratory was asked to produce copies of 13 reagent preparation logs for selected materials identified on the analyst's preparation records but was unable to produce 4 of them. The fact that the laboratory did not have preparation records for 30 percent of the requested materials indicated that the laboratory's system for ensuring the efficacy of reagents was ineffective at the time the work was performed. PCR Vol. VIII 1583.

The laboratory's quality manual required that no chemicals, probes, or standards be used beyond the manufacturer's expiration date, but the reagent preparation records revealed that at the time the subject work was performed, the laboratory did not have a means of ensuring and documenting that materials were used within their shelf life. The laboratory was unable to produce any records of quality control data provided by the supplier of the DNA standards used in this case. *Id*.

She noted that the FDLE lab failed to run the necessary controls to ensure against unreliable results and cross-contamination. Positive controls are samples known to contain a substance of interest, negative controls are samples that are known not to contain that substance. The laboratory's quality manual did not require inclusion of negative controls at any point in the analytical process. Routine inclusion of negative controls is an essential element of an analytical quality assurance. PC-R Vol. VIII 1583-84. PC-R Vol. IV 722. She further identified record keeping failures with regard to one of the instruments used to process the samples, calibration of the pipettes used by the analyst, and the qualifications of the analyst who performed the second reading in this case. PC-R Vol. VIII 1585.

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