### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DOLAN DARLING A/K/A SEAN SMITH,

Case No. SC04-2379

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. \_\_\_\_\_/

## ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #410519 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Claim I: The portion of this claim based on Ake v. Oklahoma, is procedurally barred. Trial counsel were not ineffective in the penalty phase. Counsel hired a mitigation investigator who traveled to the Bahamas to investigate Darling's background and interview family members. Darling's complete history was presented to the jury. The evidence evidentiary hearing was at the presented cumulative. Furthermore, the fact Darling has anti-social personality disorder, belonged to a gang, escaped from prison, was a juvenile delinquent, and lied, cheated and stole his way through his juvenile years, would not present Darling in the positive light trial counsel strived to present.

<u>Claim II</u>: This issue was not raised in the Rule 3.851 motion and is not reviewable. Whether counsel in the prior conviction was ineffective is likewise not reviewable in this case. In addition to the procedural bars, the issue has no merit. The trial court allowed a proffer on this issue which showed trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to challenge the prior violent felony. Mr. Iennaco investigated the case and the plea and found no way to challenge the prior case. The evidence in the prior violent felony, the carjacking and attempted murder of a cab driver, was overwhelming.

<u>Claim III:</u> The trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding the testimony of Christopher Smith, Darling's attorney in a prior-violent-felony case, the taxi robbery. The issue was not raised in the Rule 3.851 motion and was not properly before the court. The trial court allowed a proffer. Collateral counsel was trying to raise ineffective assistance of counsel in the prior violent felony, an issue which was ruled on by another judge in that case and appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. This is an attempt to re-litigate an issue which is procedurally barred.

<u>Claim IV</u>: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling on the public records requests. Janine Arvizu requested numerous technical documents from FDLE, some of which FDLE personnel could not decipher exactly what was requested until Ms. Arvizu went to the actual laboratory. Documents then were provided and she was allowed free rein. Some of the documents simply did not exist. Ms. Arvizu was allowed to recess and resume her testimony after viewing documents, and to file a supplemental report. Darling never asked the trial court to file an amended point, and this issue is procedurally barred.

<u>Claim v</u>: Counsel was not ineffective for failing to hire a quality assurance analyst to challenge the DNA results. First, Ms. Arvizu did nothing more than audit the lab as to policies

and procedures. She was not qualified to give an opinion on whether the DNA results were accurate. There was no question the DNA results were accurate: Darling told his attorneys he had an affair with the victim. David Baer, the DNA analyst at Darling's trial, had never failed a proficiency exam. The FDLE lab was accredited and passed both internal and external audits. Trial counsel did question the statistical data used to compare DNA results; however, they had no good faith basis to challenge the actual DNA testing. Counsel made a reasonable strategic decision.

<u>Claim VI</u>: The issue of the fingerprint comparison was abandoned at the trial level. Darling did not call his fingerprint expert to testify, but asked to admit his deposition over objection. The trial court accepted the deposition but noted it was inconclusive. Not only was this issue abandoned for lack of proof, it has no merit. Tony Moss identified 15 points of comparison and said he would identify 20 points if the judge allowed him to bring his comparater into the courtroom and had time for the exercise. His testimony that the fingerprint on the lotion bottle was Darling's was unrebutted.

<u>**Claims VII and VIII</u>**: The claims regarding improper prosecutorial argument and jury instructions are procedurally barred. Raising the claims as ineffective assistance of counsel</u>

will not resurrect the claims.

<u>Claims IX and X:</u> Darling concedes these claims have no merit and are raised solely for the purpose of preservation.

## CLAIM I

## COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN THE INVESTIGATION AND PRESENTATION OF MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Darling argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present the testimony of Carlton Darling, Lance McIntosh, and Montico Rahmings at the penalty phase. Counsel was also allegedly ineffective for failing to request a neuropsychological examination rather than rely on their mental health expert, Dr. Herkov. Since Dr. Dee has now testified that Darling has "frontal lobe" damage, counsel was ineffective for failing to discover this brain damage.<sup>15</sup> Darling outlines the

<sup>15</sup> The portion of the claim based on Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985), was raised as Claim IX and summarily denied because it is procedurally barred. (PCR 1541-42). See Marshall v. State, 854 So. 2d 1235, 1248 (Fla. 2003) (holding an Ake claim contained within an ineffective assistance of counsel claim "procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal"); Moore v. State, 820 So. 2d 199, 203 n.4 (Fla. 2002) (finding Ake claim procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal); Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1047 (Fla. 2000) ("The claim of incompetent mental health

"wealth" of mitigating evidence that was presented at the evidentiary hearing (Initial Brief at 35, 36-71).

The trial court held:

Claims IV/XV:<sup>16</sup> Mr. Darling was denied his rights to the effective assistance of counsel and mental health experts during the sentencing phase of his capital case, when critical information regarding Mr. Darling's mental state was not provided to the jury and judge, all in violation of Mr. Darling's rights to due process and equal protection under the fourteenth amendment to the United States Constitution, as well as his rights the fifth, sixth, under and eighth amendments.

Defendant claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate his background, hire the necessary mental health experts and provide them with available background material, supervise the administration of mental health tests, and present a "wealth" of available mitigation to the jury. He asserts this is so because counsel failed to present any of the following information to the penalty phase jury: information regarding his significant head injuries, the fact that he is "almost certainly" learning disabled, beatings inflicted by his father Carlton Darling ("Carlton") as well as police officers and prison guards, treatment that he received while incarcerated at the Boy's Industrial

evaluation is procedurally barred for failure to raise it on direct appeal.").

16 The trial judge used the exact captions as the claims in the Motion to Vacate.

School, his substance abuse and gang membership, his exposure to adult sexual situations and materials as a child, and his sexual attitudes and values, as well as his perceptions of women.

The Florida supreme court summarized the penalty phase evidence as follows:

Darling then presented four penalty phase witnesses. Bahamian Deshane Claer testified that Darling was the father of her three-year old daughter, Divinka. Claer stated that Darling had provided emotional during support her preqnancy, although she had no contact with Darling from the time she first learned she was pregnant until four later. five months Shortly or thereafter, Divinka was born, and, the next month, Darling left for the United States. Claer stated that Darling had maintained contact with her, sending Christmas, birthday and Valentine's cards other and communications to her and their daughter, about whom he expressed concern.

Darling's sister, Verneki Butler, a computer teacher in the Bahamas, also testified. Butler stated that her parents, although not married, had lived together, and were both employed outside the home. The children had plenty of food, good clothes, and other necessary provisions while growing up, and they attended church. Her father was

considered "a good hard-working citizen and a success," who supported his family well, and helped Butler to go to college.

However, Butler stated that she had suffered extreme emotional difficulties related to her father, in part, because of embarrassment arising from his many extramarital affairs. Butler also testified that her father was "very verbally abusive" to her, and that he was verbally, emotionally, and physically abusive to her mother and Darling. She stated the abuse directed to her mother had started a little before she left home to go to college (at age sixteen), and that most of it occurred while she was gone. However, she had heard reports from her mother and, upon returning home after graduation from college, she "saw it again." The worst incident she ever witnessed was when Darling was beaten with a P.V.C. pipe because he had missed a meeting his probation officer. with Τn another incident, Darling was beaten because their father had to wait for him. At other times, Darling was beaten when "he tried to separate a fight" between his parents. Butler did not think that Darling was like their father, because "[t]o me he shows more love."

Darling's mother, Eleanor Bessie Smith, testified. She stated that Darling's father, Carlton, had provided for the children, and the two of them had built the family's middle class home together. Smith that Carlton's alcoholism stated "was a problem in the home." She stated that Carlton "was abusive with [her] " and was verbally abusive "when he drinks." toward Verneki After Darling began college, his father "never cared for him at all," and Darling complained that he wanted Carlton to "show some interest in him, not just to put food on the table." Smith said that, on many occasions, Darling would try to defend her from Carlton, and would receive "bruises" as a result. Smith believed that Carlton's relationships with other women were embarrassing for Darling. She had brought Darling up to believe in God, and she related that Darling had kept in touch and demonstrated concern for her while he was in jail.

Darling's last witness Dr. was Michael Herkov, who was accepted without objection as an expert in forensic psychology. Dr. Herkov did a clinical interview with Darling, reviewed some of the discovery provided by the State, and evaluated Darling. Не also consulted with investigators, interviewed family and members, read Carlton's deposition. Carlton indicated that his relationship with Darling had deteriorated because "as he entered the teen years he got in trouble and

difficult to discipline." was Darling's family members described him to Dr. Herkov as "a very good person, very polite, very nonviolent, very loving to his children and a good domestic partner, caring, et cetera, et cetera." However, Dr. Herkov testified that it was guite possible that Darling appeared one way to family members and was still capable of committing murder. Dr. Herkov also read the statement of Harlan Deen (a headmaster at one of Bahamian schools Darling the attended), and spoke with Darling's probation officer, Debra Rolle. Deen had reported to Dr. Herkov that Darling (whom Deen described as а "bully") could "appear to be very compliant and cooperative and friendly and then do a lot of things that were inconsistent with that."

Dr. Herkov indicated that Darling's I.Q. of 84 was "about a middle low average range," and that there was "some evidence to suggest a learning disability," but "no diagnosis." Dr. Herkov said that Darling's problems in school were "certainly consistent with somebody who's been abused." Dr. Herkov said that physically children abused "are much more likely to get in trouble with the legal system, to have crimes that are violent," and to enqaqe in "antisocial behaviors." Nonetheless, Herkov opined that, Dr. knowing everything that had happened to Darling as a child, he could not "at

all" say that it excused his behavior in this case, nor did Dr. Herkov conclude that the abuse could lead Darling to do something that he did not know he was doing.

## Id. at 153-154 (footnote omitted).

During the evidentiary hearing, Carlton stated that he and Dolan's mother never married. (EH. 20, 49.) Any time that Carlton with Defendant was generally spent restricted to picking him up from school and administering beatings, usually with his fists and/or a PVC pipe. (EH. 23, 32, 35, 41.) 36, 40, Defendant was beaten approximately six times a week, and Carlton would typically hit Defendant wherever he (Carlton) "could get a good hit." (EH. 23-25, 28, 31, 40, 41.)<sup>9</sup>. Carlton admitted he had a drinking problem and that he was physically abusive toward Defendant's mother in front of Defendant. (EH. 25, 27.) When Defendant was approximately 13 years old, he would sometimes spend time at the cabaret where Carlton worked and where topless and/or scantily clad women were paid to entertain men. (EH. 33-36, 75-76.)

Fn. 9. During one episode, Defendant
was beaten so badly he bled through
the nose. (EH. 32.)

Mario Smith ("Mario"), Defendant's first cousin, testified that he was employed as a prison guard at Foxhill Prison (in the Bahamas) while Defendant was incarcerated there, (EH. 81, 82, 88.) Defendant was 17 or 18 at the time, and juveniles were not separated from adult prisoners, nor were mentally ill patients separated from the general population. (EH. 88, 89.) Mario described the prison having as а "deplorable" smell, as well as rats, roaches, and lice. Additionally, there was

no running water and the small, unlit cells each housed five or six inmates. (EH. 82-86, 90.) The toilet facilities consisted of shared five-gallon buckets, which were only emptied once a day. (EH. 85,86,105,106.) Executions by hanging were carried out at the prison, and Mario believed Defendant was there when one took place. (EH. 86, 87.) The prison guards were generally indifferent and would beat prisoners with a rubber hose for perceived discipline violations or because they held grudges against them. (EH. 92-94.) Mario stated that he never saw Defendant being beaten, nor Defendant complain that he had been beaten. (EH. 97, 98, 104.) Mario testified that the prisoners were allowed to get toiletries on Sunday from friends and family, and were able to wash themselves in 101, 102.) He the cells, (EH. further testified that Defendant's mother and sister visited Defendant and provided him with what he needed. (BH. 103,104.)

Defendant's friends Lance McIntosh ("McIntosh") Montico and Rahming ("Rahming"),<sup>10</sup> were deposed on April 22, 2004.11 McIntosh testified that Defendant was like a brother to him, and was a nice (McIntosh. 3, 5.) Не further person. testified that growing up on the island was not easy and both he and Defendant joined a gang to cope with the difficulties. (McIntosh. 4, 5.) Drugs were a "wide thing" on the island, and easy to get. (McIntosh. 14.) Smoking dope (marijuana) was a 13, common occurrence and sometimes it was laced with cocaine, however, "marijuana was mostly our thing." (McIntosh. 6, 14, 15) McIntosh characterized Defendant as a "big smoker." (McIntosh. 6.) McIntosh stated that the police would harass people and would hit them to force them to talk about things they knew nothing about. (McIntosh. 8.) McIntosh witnessed Defendant being beaten repeatedly about the head with a police radio because he was unable to provide the police officer

with the information the officer wanted. (McIntosh. 8-10.) McIntosh was sent to Fox Hill prison in 1996; however, Defendant was not there at the time. (McIntosh. 17, 18.) McIntosh described the prison conditions much as Mario did. (McIntosh. 19-21.) McIntosh stated that Defendant told him that he was beaten between the legs with billy clubs while showering at the prison. (McIntosh. 24-26.)

Fn.10. Both McIntosh and Rahmings live in the Bahamas.

Fn.11. Both depositions were received into evidence. (EH. 185.)

Rahming, who had known Defendant for seventeen years, described him as the type of person who would give you the shoes off feet or the shirt off his back. his (Rahming. 55, 66.) Rahming also had a stay Foxhill prison and described the at conditions just as McIntosh and Mario had. (Rahming, 57-59.) Rahming was housed next to Defendant and stated that the guards went into Defendant's cell and beat him for approximately 20 minutes with a bat or billy club. (Rahming. 59, 60, 63, 64.)

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